RECEIVED

May 06 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from York County

Honorable William A. McKinnon, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

STACY MICHELLE RABON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-001374

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Deputy Chief Attorney for Capital Appeals

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial judge's erroneous charge on witness credibility that told the jury that "simple mistakes" were not necessarily indicative of deception prejudice appellant by excusing the mistakes made by the police in their flawed investigation of the thirty-year-old death of an infant?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On the morning of August 12, 1992, a fisherman found a dead infant in a bag in the Catawba River. R. 28-31. Twenty-nine years later, a York County grand jury indicted appellant Stacy Michelle Rabon for murder and homicide by child abuse. R. 615-616. On August 7, 2023, nearly thirty-one years after the infant was found, appellant was tried before the Honorable William A. McKinnon and a jury. R. 1. John Anthony and Leslie Robinson represented the State. R. 1. Phil Smith and Deandra Sexton represented appellant. R. 1. The jury could not reach a verdict on murder, but convicted appellant of homicide by child abuse. R. 605. Judge McKinnon sentenced appellant to life imprisonment. R. 613-614. This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The question of whether a jury charge is an improper charge on the facts is a question of law and should be reviewed *de novo*. Reversal is required if the trial court abused its discretion and the charge as a whole remains prejudicial to the defendant. State v. Brown, 438 S.C. 146, 881 S.E.2d 771 (Ct. App. 2022).

ARGUMENT

The trial judge's erroneous charge on witness credibility that told the jury that "simple mistakes" were not necessarily indicative of deception prejudiced appellant by excusing the mistakes made by the police in their flawed investigation of the thirty-year-old death of an infant.

Factual and Procedural Background

The 1992 Investigation Goes Nowhere

Over thirty years ago, on the morning of August 12, 1992, a young man fishing in the Catawba River saw a bag sitting on a rock. R. 29-30. The fisherman was curious and as he approached, saw the bag was from Sears. R. 31. He untied the bag and saw bloody water and sheets inside. R. 31. He unraveled the sheets and saw the back of a dead infant. R. 31.

The coroner took the baby from the river to the hospital morgue for an autopsy. R. 32; R. 48-49. Dr. Everett Jenkins, Jr. performed the autopsy that afternoon in 1992 and testified at appellant's trial in 2023. R. 294. The infant was still wrapped in garments inside the Sears bag when Dr. Jenkins began the autopsy. R. 295. Inside the bag were sheets, towels, a sweater, styrofoam, and a pair of scissors. R. 295; R. 307. Dark hairs were found on the sheet. R. 307. The umbilical cord and placenta were still attached to the female infant. R. 295-296; R. 310.

Based on the relatively good condition of the body (having been found in a river), the pathologist believed the interval between the infant's birth, death, and being found "was relatively short." R. 296. Dr. Jenkins found multiple abrasions, cuts, and stab wounds that he thought were consistent with the scissors found in the bag. R. 297; R. 300-301; R. 306. The infant's lungs were fully inflated which indicated the infant breathed after its birth. R. 307. The doctor did not believe the infant was alive when it was placed in the water. R. 315.

Dr. Jenkins took blood from the infant's body. R. 317. The blood collected was of "fair to poor" quality for testing. R. 193. He also collected and preserved samples of the infant's vital organs. R. 317-318. The doctor retained custody over the tissue samples at the hospital. R. 318-319. Dr. Jenkins agreed that the styrofoam and the hairs would have been preserved at the autopsy for later forensic evaluation. R. 325-326. The police collected the styrofoam and hairs from Dr. Jenkins at the autopsy. R. 45.

The forensic serologist who worked on the case in the early 1990s was Robin Taylor. R. 153-160. Taylor wrote a report from her testing that excluded a suspect. R. 200. An officer with the sheriff called Taylor questioning the result because the person excluded was their best suspect. R. 200. Taylor ran the test again and changed her report to "inconclusive." R. 200-202. A toxicologist found traces of a cocaine metabolite in the infant's blood, but the amount was too small to quantify. R. 220-221. A private DNA lab developed a DNA profile of the infant. R. 268-269.

The police had no evidence from their investigation in the 1990s that Rabon harmed the child. R. 46. The coroner admitted talking to reporters in the 1990s. R. 54. He admitted telling the media that the umbilical cord was attached and that they did not believe the infant died from drowning. R. 55.

The Limited 2020-2021 Investigation

In 2014, York County opened its own DNA lab. R. 226-227. The sheriff began using the lab to reinvestigate cold cases and, in 2016, reviewed the evidence in the infant's death. R. 227-228. Crystal Kissel was the technical leader of the lab. R. 251. While Kissel said nothing improper occurred with respect to appellant's case, she resigned and sued the sheriff's department because

she was pressured to do things that were outside of her lab's protocols. R. 278-279. The sheriff's department settled with Kissel. R. 279.

Using better technology than what was available in the 1990s, Kissel generated DNA profiles from some of the items stored in evidence. R. 260-272. She examined DNA evidence on the sheet and on the scissors. R. 268-272. The major DNA profile on the scissors matched the infant. R. 269. Kissel saw commonalities in the infant's profile from the scissors and the blood on the sheet that indicated to her a parent-child relationship. R. 270. She also developed a potential DNA profile for the father. R. 271-272. These DNA profiles were entered into a DNA database in August 2016. R. 271-272.

Based on the entry of the potential mother's DNA profile into the database, Rabon became a suspect in December 2019. R. 447-448. In October 2020, the York DNA lab received the tissue samples of the infant collected during the autopsy—called “pathology blocks.” R. 448-449. The preservation process caused “significant damage” to the DNA. R. 449-450. The DNA lab developed a partial profile of the infant from the pathology blocks. R. 450. Rabon consented to a DNA swab in the spring of 2021 and the lab developed her DNA profile. R. 338. The lab concluded that Rabon was 10,000 times more likely than an unknown, unrelated individual to be the infant's mother. R. 460-461.

With the belief that Rabon was their prime suspect in the infant's death, lead investigator Lanelle Day implemented her plan to conduct separate interviews of Rabon and her family at the same time on March 31, 2021. R. 345-347. The police interviewed Rabon, Rabon's long-term boyfriend Robbie Outen (“Outen”), Rabon's mother, Rabon's sister, a friend of Rabon's, and Outen's cousin. R. 347. Officer Day and another officer, Pete Branham, interviewed Rabon. R. 348. Only Rabon's statements were entered into evidence by the State.

Officers Day and Rabon met with Rabon in her small RV behind her mother's house. R. 348-349. They met with her again the next day and again on July 21, 2021. R. 350. The State entered recordings of these interviews into evidence as State's Ex. 43. R. 350-352.

The officers did not tell Rabon about the infant's death until well into the interview. State's Ex. 43. Prior to the revelation of the infant's death, Rabon readily and tearfully admitted having a baby in secret and giving it up for adoption. State's Ex. 43. She could not afford an abortion. State's Ex. 43. Rabon had a transgender friend from work named Jasmine. State's Ex. 43. Rabon confided in Jasmine about her pregnancy. State's Ex. 43.

Jasmine told Rabon she knew a couple in Tega Cay who wanted a baby. State's Ex. 43. Rabon met the couple approximately twice. State's Ex. 43. She believed their names were Steve and Natalie. State's Ex. 43. The father had "some kind of felony" and could not adopt through regular channels. State's Ex. 43. She believed they were prosperous and nice people because they lived in Tega Cay and had a nice car. State's Ex. 43.

Rabon went to Jasmine's house when she thought the baby was coming. State's Ex. 43. The adoptive father came in a work van with another man she had never seen. State's Ex. 43. She got into the back of the van thinking they were going to the hospital, but the adoptive father said if they went to the hospital, there would be too many questions and they would not be able to keep the baby. State's Ex. 43.

Rabon had the baby on the side of the road in the back of the van with the two men. State's Ex. 43. She never looked at the baby. State's Ex. 43. The other man held the baby and the adoptive father drove Rabon back to Jasmine's house. State's Ex. 43. They wrapped the baby in a blanket brought by Rabon. State's Ex. 43. Rabon went home and acted like nothing happened. State's Ex. 43. She never asked about the couple or the baby and lost touch with Jasmine. State's

Ex. 43. Rabon said she kept this secret for twenty-eight years until the police interview. State's Ex. 43. Officer Day showed Rabon a press clipping about the baby's death and Rabon became inconsolable. State's Ex. 43.

The State claimed as its best piece of evidence a portion of Rabon's interview from April 1, 2021. (State's Ex. 43, named "2nd meeting clip"). In this interview, Rabon referenced older media reports and something from the news the night before. (State's Ex. 43, named "2nd meeting clip"). Officer Day said that nothing had been released to the media to the best of her knowledge. (State's Ex. 43, named "2nd meeting clip"). Rabon said someone in her family saw something in the media about a cold case file and said "the baby didn't die from injuries from drowning but from injuries from a weapon that was found in whatever they found the baby with." (State's Ex. 43, named "2nd meeting clip"). Officer Day testified on direct-examination that the police "never made public information that we had recovered those scissors with the baby." R. 355. The solicitor emphasized in his closing argument that Rabon must have killed the baby because no news articles said the scissors had been found with the baby. R. 544-545.

On cross-examination, defense counsel presented Officer Day with a Xerox playing card and a notation in the file that Crimestoppers had periodically publicized the case. R. 383-384. The playing cards were distributed to members of the public and inmates in the Department of Corrections. R. 383-384. The playing card said, "The infant was only hours old when she died from injuries sustained after birth but not drowning." R. 384. Defense counsel also cross-examined Officer Day about meeting with the real person about whom the television show "NCIS" was based and her involvement in a potential podcast about the case. R. 385.

Defense counsel also cross-examined Officer Day about the circumstances involving Rabon's supposed admission to having secret knowledge about the weapon. R. 400-403. When

Rabon made the statement, the police heard that it was Outen who told her this. R. 400-403. He was standing 100 feet from the RV. R. 400-403. Outen had asked the police if something had been published. R. 400-403. Outen told the police a friend told him about the news report. R. 402. When asked what the friend said when they talked to him, Officer Day replied, “I did not investigate the friend. I did not talk to him. Because we knew we had not released any media.” R. 402.

Officer Day described the police’s efforts to find the adoptive couple and Jasmine which were complicated by the age of the case. R. 357-367. The Fort Mill side of the river had changed significantly since 1992. R. 357-367. The police “canvassed” that side of the river, talking to people in houses old enough to have existed in 1992. R. 357-367. Officer Day looked through yearbooks from Fort Mill for Jasmine. R. 357-367. Officer Day also said, “[B]ecause Ms. Rabon had expressed to us that [Jasmine] was sort of a party friend, this was somebody that she knew through that kind of lifestyle and that they liked to go to the clubs in Rock Hill—the straight clubs, the gay clubs—we reached out to Ms. Mangum, who was kind of well known in Rock Hill to be part of the clubbing scene back in the day.” R. 358-359. “Ms. Mangum” did not remember a “Jasmine.” R. 359. Officer Day also looked through property records for “Steve and Natalie” and found no leads.¹ R. 359-361.

Defense counsel also cross-examined Officer Day about mistakes made with the evidence in the case. R. 391-394. The styrofoam found with the infant was missing. R. 391-394. A lime green fitted sheet was missing. R. 395. Officer Day’s chain of custody logs for the pathology blocks contained discrepancies. R. 406-409. The box of evidence contained empty envelopes. R.

¹ Officer Day’s search of the property records might have been in vain if “Steve and Natalie” had thought to give false names to the young girl from whom they were illegally adopting an infant.

409-410. A cross and note recovered from the cemetery were missing. R. 411-413. A PowerPoint the police created with photographs and notes about the evidence was shown to witnesses during their interviews. R. 418-422.

The Objection to the Trial Judge's "Simple Mistakes" Charge

During the charge conference, defense counsel objected to the court's charge on witness credibility. R. 516-519. Specifically, appellant objected to the paragraph of the charge that told the jury that if a witness makes a simple mistake it does not mean the witness is not telling the truth. R. 516-519. Appellant said he could find no cases supporting charging that language and that it was a charge on the facts. R. 516.

The trial judge said the charge was correct. R. 516-517. Appellant responded by pointing out that Rabon did not testify and the court's charge only exonerated witnesses for their "simple mistakes." R. 517. Rabon's statement was admitted and the State would argue that she misstated things and misled investigators, but because she was not a witness the charge would not apply to her. R. 517-518. Defense counsel said adding "or the defendant" to the language would improve it, but that even if added, the charge would still be improper. R. 518. Judge McKinnon said adding "or the defendant" would make the charge too confusing and told defense counsel he was free to argue that point in closing. R. 518-519.

Discussion

In this old case with no direct evidence Rabon harmed her child, Judge McKinnon's erroneous "simple mistakes" charge requires reversal. The jury deliberated nearly nine hours, hung on one charge, and asked multiple questions. R. 587-605. The instruction was a charge on the facts that excused the mistakes made in the investigation. S.C. Const. Art. V, § 21. The State

accused Rabon of inventing Jasmine, “Steve,” and “Natalie,” even though the passage of time made defending this case extremely difficult.

Judge McKinnon’s improper charge on witness credibility is set forth below and the objectionable portion is the third paragraph, which is italicized:

Credibility and believability of the witnesses. When I say that you must consider all the evidence, I do not mean you must accept all the evidence as true or accurate. You should decide whether you believe what each witness had to say and how important their testimony was. In making those decisions, you may believe or disbelieve any witness in whole or in part. The number of witnesses testifying about a particular point does not necessarily matter.

In deciding whether to believe a witness, I suggest you ask yourself a few questions: Did the witness impress you as one who was telling the truth? Did they have any particular reason to not tell the truth or have a personal interest in the outcome of the case? Did the witness seem to have a good memory? Did they have the opportunity and the ability to accurately observe the things they’re testified about? Did the witness appear to understand the question clearly and answer them directly? Did the witness’s testimony differ from other testimony or other evidence?

However, please keep in mind that a simple mistake by a witness doesn’t mean the witness wasn’t telling the truth as he or she remembers it. People naturally tend to forget some things or remember them inaccurately. So if a witness misstates something, you must decide whether it was because of an innocent lapse in memory or an intentional deception. The significance of your decision may depend on whether the misstatement is about an important fact or about an unimportant detail.

R. 531-533 (emphasis added).

“Judges shall not charge juries in respect to matters of fact, but shall declare the law.” S.C. Const. Art. V, § 21. In State v. Stukes, 416 S.C. 493, 787 S.E.2d 480 (2016), the Supreme Court eliminated the charge that a victim’s testimony in a sexual assault case need not be corroborated. Id. at 498-500, 787 S.E.2d at 482-83. The Court found that charge violated Article 21’s prohibition on courts commenting on the facts to the jury. Id. “By addressing the veracity of a victim’s

testimony in its instructions, the trial court emphasizes the weight of that evidence in the eyes of the jury.” Id. “The charge invites the jury to believe the victim, explaining that to confirm the authenticity of her statement, the jury need only hear her speak.” Id.

In State v. Brown, 438 S.C. 146, 151, 881 S.E.2d 771, 774 (Ct. App. 2022), this Court noted that our Supreme Court has recently emphasized the importance of not “elevating facts” in jury charges. “Recent precedent has directed circuit courts to refrain from giving instructions that guide juries on the inferences they can draw from evidence or that tells the jury to consider particular evidence and how to construe it.” Id. The Supreme Court vacated this Court’s decision in Brown because it found the error harmless, but agreed with this Court that the jury charge improperly elevated the facts in violation of the state constitution. State v. Brown, 443 S.C. 196, 199, 904 S.E.2d 448, 449 (2024).

Like this Court, the Supreme Court’s Opinion in Brown cites the recent cases paring down jury charges and leaving comments and inferences to lawyers in argument. Id. In State v. Burdette, 427 S.C. 490, 832 S.E.2d 575 (2019), the Court eliminated the charge that malice can be inferred from a deadly weapon. The Burdette Court frowned on giving juries “examples of conduct the jury may consider when determining whether the State has proven an element of a crime or when determining whether certain other facts have been proven or disproven.” Burdette at 502, 832 S.E.2d at 582. A witness making a “simple mistake” is exactly the kind of “example of conduct” condemned in these cases.

Brown also cited State v. Stewart, 433 S.C. 382, 391, 858 S.E.2d 808, 813 (2021) that disapproved of an inference charge about knowledge of possession of drugs. Brown cited State v. Smith, 430 S.C. 226, 230, 845 S.E.2d 495, 496 (2020) that confirmed implied malice charges should not be given when a defendant presents evidence of self-defense. Other cases from this

jurisprudential trend cited in Brown are: Pantovich v. State, 427 S.C. 555, 832 S.E.2d 596 (2019) (restricting use of good character charge); State v. Cartwright, 425 S.C. 81, 93, 819 S.E.2d 756, 762 (2018) (preventing comment on a suicide attempt); Stukes; State v. Cheeks, 401 S.C. 322, 737 S.E.2d 480 (2013) (drug knowledge); State v. Hughey, 339 S.C. 439, 529 S.E.2d 721 (2000) (legal provocation); and State v. Grant, 275 S.C. 404, 272 S.E.2d 169 (1980) (flight).

“Because the trial judge is the authority figure in the courtroom, jurors look to the trial judge for guidance not only on the law, but for matters such as courtroom conduct and protocol, even permission for breaks, meals, and telephone calls.” State v. Taylor, 427 S.C. 208, 215-16, 829 S.E.2d 723, 727 (Ct. App. 2019). Taylor, an Allen² charge case, emphasizes that jurors “scrutinize the trial judge’s statements and instructions” and that this scrutiny elevates during deliberations. Id.

The State argued first with no rebuttal and preemptively attempted to excuse the simple mistakes made during the investigation. The solicitor excused Officer Day for not reinterviewing witnesses or reviewing evidence from the 1990s. R. 550-551. The solicitor excused the police losing evidence that was found not with the baby. R. 551-552. The solicitor blamed Rabon for the police’s mistakes, citing her unwillingness to ride in a police car. R. 553. He said, “So it’s a little bit late to come in now, complaining about what the Sheriff’s Office didn’t do and the imperfections in a 30-year investigation when you aren’t willing to take a car ride and help it along.” R. 553.

The DNA evidence in the case was far from conclusive that Rabon murdered her baby instead of giving it to people who said they wanted to adopt an infant. On a green sheet, Kissel developed three DNA profiles, only one of which was suitable for comparison (Rabon’s). R. 464-

² Allen v. United States, 164 U.S. 492 (1896).

465. On a white sheet, a mixture of three individuals was found. R. 466. One was Rabon's and the infant's profile was excluded. R. 466-467. An unknown female individual's DNA profile was found. R. 467. Two DNA profiles were found on the scissors. R. 471-472. One was the infant's. R. 471. Rabon was excluded from the scissors. R. 471-472, On another cutting from a white sheet, the analyst found the infant's DNA and another contributor, but Rabon was excluded. R. 477-478. The DNA evidence shows that Rabon's blood and DNA were on some of the items and was consistent with her giving birth, but notably her DNA was absent from the scissors which the State claimed was the murder weapon. The DNA also showed other people handled the materials found with the baby.

The jury's lengthy deliberation included multiple questions. R. 587-605. The jury asked a very specific question about the definition of extreme indifference and intended outcome. R. 587. The jury asked how long they would be allowed to deliberate that night. R. 600. The jury asked about the sentencing range on the charges. R. 602. They asked for the procedure for a hung jury on one charge. R. 602. The jury hung on the murder charge and only convicted on the homicide by child abuse charge. R. 605.

The closeness of this case requires reversal because the error cannot be harmless. The State's best evidence was that Rabon supposedly knew secret information about the bag containing a weapon. Appellant showed the limited value of this "gotcha" through the multiple contacts by the police with the media and the distribution of a playing card stating that the baby died from injuries and not from drowning. The police never bothered to question the person who told Rabon's boyfriend (who told Rabon) about the supposed secret knowledge. The DNA evidence proved Rabon gave birth, but did not disprove her story. And the fact that a "Ms. Mangum" who was a supposed expert on the Rock Hill party scene in the early 1990s could not recall Jasmine

certainly does not make the erroneous charge harmless. This Court should reverse and remand for a new trial.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should reverse appellant's conviction and remand for a new trial.



David Alexander
Deputy Chief Attorney for Capital Appeals

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT