RECEIVED

May 01 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from York County
The Honorable William A. McKinnon, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

STACY MICHELLE RABON,

Appellant.

APPELLATE CASE NO 2023-001374

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

KEVIN S. BRACKETT
Solicitor, Sixteenth Judicial Circuit

1675 York Highway
York, SC 29745
(803) 628-3025

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

Rabon was not prejudiced by the trial court's proper instruction about factors jurors should consider in assessing the believability of witnesses.

The trial court properly instructed the jury on factors to consider when assessing the believability of witnesses. Rabon claims the charge “excused mistakes in the investigation,” but the charge had nothing to do with that. The charge concerned “simple mistakes” in witnesses’ memory or recollection on the witness stand, not supposed mistakes in the police investigation. No reasonable juror would have interpreted the charge as Rabon argues. Further, the instruction was proper because it helped jurors understand their role as factfinder. The instruction did not elevate any particular facts and did not establish any inferences which could be construed as a comment on the facts. The charge was proper, and Rabon was not prejudiced. This Court should affirm.

Regarding the credibility of witnesses, the trial court instructed the jury as follows:

Credibility and believability of the witnesses. When I say that you must consider all the evidence, I do not mean you must accept all the evidence as true or accurate. You should decide whether you believe what each witness had to say, how important that testimony was. In making those decisions, you may believe or disbelieve any witness in whole or in part. The number of witnesses testifying about a particular point doesn’t necessarily matter.

In deciding whether to believe a witness, I suggest you ask yourself a few questions. Did the[y] impress you as one who is telling the truth? Did they have any particular reason to not tell the truth, or have a personal interest in the outcome of the case? Did the witness seem to have a good memory? Do they have the opportunity and ability to accurately observe things they testified to? Did the witness appear to understand the questions clearly and answer them directly? If their testimony differs from other witnesses or other evidence.

However, please keep in mind that a simple mistake does not mean a witness wasn’t telling the truth as he or she remembers it. People naturally tend to forget some things or remember them inaccurately. So, if a witness misstated something, you must decide whether it was because of an innocent lapse in memory or an intentional

deception. The significance of your decision may depend on whether the misstatement is about an important fact or about an unimportant detail.

R.p.532–33. Rabon objected only to the last paragraph of this portion of the charge. R.p.516–19.

This charge had nothing to do with “mistakes made in the investigation.” Brief of Appellant at 10. It was obviously directed at mistakes in witness recollection. No reasonable juror would interpret the charge as Rabon suggests.

The charge provided appropriate guidance to the jurors in their assessment of witness credibility. The complained-of language was no more a charge on the facts than the language immediately preceding it. Both portions of the charge concern factors jurors should consider in deciding whether they believe a witness’s testimony. In the preceding paragraph, the trial court instructed the jury to consider whether the witness has any bias and whether the person “seem[s] to have a good memory.” R.p.532. Similarly, the complained-of language instructs jurors to consider whether the testimony in question concerns an important fact, and thus may inform their assessment whether any misstatements are intentional or unintentional. This innocuous instruction merely conveys to the jury their responsibility to use their common sense to assess the credibility of each witness. See State v. Blurton, 352 S.C. 203, 207–08, 573 S.E.2d 802, 804 (2002) (“The purpose of jury charges is “to enlighten the jury and to aid it in arriving at a correct verdict.”); State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 27, 538 S.E.2d 248, 251 (2000) (explaining “jury instructions should be considered as a whole, and if as a whole they are free from error, any isolated portions which may be misleading do not constitute reversible error”); State v. Brandt, 393 S.C. 526, 549, 713 S.E.2d 591, 603 (2011) (“A jury charge which is substantially correct and covers the law does not require reversal.”).

The charge is distinguishable from the instructions given in the cases cited in the Brief of Appellant which were held to constitute a charge on the facts. Unlike the Stukes charge, the instruction was not directed towards a specific witness associated with only one party. Cf. State v. Stukes, 416 S.C. 493, 499–500, 787 S.E.2d 480, 483 (2016) (holding instruction that a victim’s testimony “need not be corroborated” was a comment on the facts because by “addressing the veracity of a victim's testimony in its instructions, the trial court emphasizes the weight of that evidence in the eyes of the jury. . . . Specifying this qualification applies to one witness creates the inference the same is not true for the others”); see also State v. Rayfield, 369 S.C. 106, 120, 631 S.E.2d 244, 251–52 (2006) (Pleicones, J., dissenting) (“By specifically charging that the alleged victim's testimony need not be corroborated, the trial court singles out the alleged victim and ‘appears to express an opinion on her credibility.’”). Likewise, the charge did not single out or emphasize any specific fact, such as a defendant’s flight. Cf. State v. Grant, 275 S.C. 404, 406, 272 S.E.2d 169, 170 (1980) (disapproving charge which instructed that flight can show consciousness of guilt). Nor did the charge establish an inference regarding a contested fact or element. Cf. State v. Burdette, 427 S.C. 490, 503, 832 S.E.2d 575, 582 (2019) (holding “a trial court shall not instruct the jury that it may infer the existence of malice when the deed was done with a deadly weapon”); State v. Brown, 443 S.C. 196, 904 S.E.2d 448 (2024) (holding inferred malice jury instruction was improper but harmless).

The Oregon Supreme Court rejected a challenge to a similar instruction in Cox v. Gustafson, 493 P.2d 52 (Or. 1972). There, the trial court instructed the jury as follows:

Discrepancies in a witness' testimony or between his testimony and that of others, if there was in fact any, do not necessarily mean that the witness should be totally discredited. Failure of recollection is a common experience. An innocent misrecollection is not unknown. It is a fact also that two persons witnessing an incident or transaction often will see or hear it differently. Whether the discrepancy

pertains to a fact of importance or only to a trivial detail should be considered in weighing its significance.

Id. at 53–54. The court affirmed, explaining the instruction was not a comment on the facts. Rather, it was “an attempt to aid the jury in weighing the evidence” Id. The court explained that while the instruction was not harmful, it was likely unnecessary because the principle is “obvious to most jurors” Id. California courts give a similar instruction, which has been held proper. People v. Anderson, 61 Cal. Rptr. 3d 903, 916 (Cal. Ct. App. 2007); see also Dodds v. Stellar, 175 P.2d 607, 616 (Cal. Dist. Ct. App. 1946) (holding instruction that “failure of recollection is a common experience and innocent misrecollection is not uncommon” was not improper, explaining the statement is “a truism and is harmless”).

Rabon was not prejudiced by the instruction. While defense counsel attempted to portray the investigation as flawed, the State’s investigation was a good one. The foundation for the State’s case was DNA evidence establishing Rabon was the mother of baby Jane Doe. The State went to great lengths to show law enforcement carefully processed the evidence using the forensic tools available at the time. Defense counsel had little substantive cross-examination for the SLED forensic scientists who testified. His closing argument focused on insignificant supposed flaws in the chain of custody and inconsequential scraps of evidence, none of which cast any doubt on the probity of the DNA evidence conclusively demonstrating Rabon was the mother of baby Jane Doe, a fact which defense counsel conceded. R.p.571–72. The DNA evidence which ultimately led to Rabon’s arrest and conviction was unimpeachable and, along with her incriminating statements to police, was conclusive of her guilt.

Rabon argues the “DNA evidence was far from conclusive that Rabon murdered her baby,” citing the fact that some DNA samples were inconclusive or unsuitable for comparison.

Brief of Appellant at 13. But Rabon was not convicted of murder; she was convicted of homicide by child abuse, which does not require proof that Rabon actually stabbed the baby or directed another person to do so. Rather, it only requires that a person “causes the death of a child under the age of eleven while committing child abuse or neglect, and the death occurs under circumstances manifesting an extreme indifference to human life.” R.p.537–538. Rabon’s conduct meets this standard even if the jury was not sure she actually stabbed the baby.

Defense counsel’s most aggressive cross-examination was of Investigator Lanelle Day. But his cross-examination was not focused on substantive lapses in memory or other “mistakes” in Day’s recollection, but rather on supposed oversights in her investigation. When defense counsel did argue Investigator Day had trouble recalling aspects of her investigation, he could only nitpick her note-taking decisions, point out insignificant mistakes in her notation, and complain that she did not reduce to writing certain statements which were captured on video. R.p.407–410, 562, 575. Because the State’s case did not rely on eyewitness testimony, defense counsel was left to grasp at straws to attempt to show flaws in the investigation.

By contrast, defense counsel did argue the jury should forgive significant omissions in statements Rabon made to police. **Immediately after** quoting the court’s instruction on witness credibility, he argued: “And they want to hold it against Michelle because she got interviewed out of the blue and told a story about what happened in her life in a traumatic event some thirty years ago. **She didn’t get every detail right.** They said you need to hold it against her.” R.p.561. Thus defense counsel argued the jury should excuse Rabon’s faulty recollections and vague testimony as simple mistakes not affecting her credibility—for example, her false statement that Steve cut the umbilical cord after she gave birth and her inability to provide

accurate names or places of residence for Jasmine, George, Steve, and Natalie, the fictitious characters in her unbelievable story.

In closing argument, the State laid out its theory of why Rabon would kill the baby. As Rabon explained, she already had one child which was not being supported by the father. She did not believe she could take care of another child, and she was not in a stable relationship. She had recently begun a relationship with William Outen, and claimed she believed he was the father while she was pregnant. But she knew this wasn't true when the baby was born with red hair, and she was afraid Outen would conclude this too. Rabon went on to have a 30-year relationship and two children with Outen. R.p.549. Finally, Rabon had been using cocaine and was afraid what would happen to her and her other child if the baby tested positive for cocaine at the hospital. Defense counsel was left with an absurd theory: that the adoptive mother "didn't like the baby," so they decided to stab it with scissors and put it in the river to "set [Rabon] up." R.p.578.

The charge was proper and Rabon was not prejudiced. This Court should affirm.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, Rabon's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.